 (translation from the Italian language)
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COURT OF PESARO
CRIMINAL SECTION
Office of the Judge for Preliminary Investigations ORDER OF FORFEITURE 
I- The procedure
On 19 November 2007 the Judge for the Preliminary Investigations with the Court of Pesaro decided to dismiss case no. 2012/2007 R.G.N.R. started against Messrs. Romeo Pirani, Guido Ferri, Pietro Barbetti, Fabio Barbetti, Giacomo Barbetti and other individuals yet to be identified. 

These individuals were being investigated for the crimes set out in Article 66 of Law 1.6.1939 no. 1089, Article 97 of Law no. 1424 of  1940, Articles 510 and 1146 of Royal Decree 30.3.1942 no. 327, Articles 110, 476 and/or 483 of the Italian Criminal Code (“c.p.”).
The proposed indictments read as follows:
ROMEO    PIRANI,    GUIDO    FERRI,    PIETRO    BARBETTI,     FABIO BARBETTI, GIACOMO BARBETTI (in conspiracy with Heinz Hertzer, David Carrit and other individuals yet to be identified)
Count A – for the felony foreseen and punished by Article 110 c.p. and Article 66 of Law 1.6.1939 no. 1089 (nowadays converted into Article 123 of the Testo Unico of 1999 and into Article 171 of Legislative Decree no. 42 of 22.1.2001·and subsequent amendments) as in conspiracy among them - the former two as captains of the two ships in which the object was placed and disembarked on the coast of Fano and from there directed to its future destinations, the three Barbetti brothers as smugglers of the statue (which they took from the hands of the fishermen who had found the object in the sea and then hid and transported it to Gubbio where it was hidden with a third person until its exportation), Heinz Herzer in his capacity as shareholder of the London consortium Artemis (incorporated with the specific purpose of managing the exportation, restoration and subsequent allocation of the statue) material holder of the statue between 1971 and 1973, David Carrit as representative member of the Artemis consortium who managed the illegal exportation from Italy and the subsequent transfer of the statue across the ocean – they prepared and organized the exportation and thereby illegally exported (i.e. without submitting the protected object to the Custom Authorities, in absence of the required authorization for free circulation and by evading the border tariff duties) the statue named “Victorious Youth” attributed to the Greek sculptor Lysippus.
In Fano, Gubbio, London, Munich, criminal actions initiated at an uncertain date, most probably in the years 1971 and 1972. 

The above individuals were charged with the felonies foreseen and punished under Articles 110, 476, 482 and/ or 483 c.p.
ROMEO PIRANI and GUIDO FERRI
Count b – for the felony punished by Article 81 second section, 110 c.p., 510, 511, 1136 of the Navigation Code (Decree no. 327 of 30.3.1942) as in conspiracy among them, in their respective capacity as ship owner and captain of the fishing boats "Ferruccio Ferri" and "Gigliola Ferri'', committed a single crime made out of multiple deeds (actions and omissions), by omitting to report to the closest Post Authorities the find which is today known as the “Victoriosu Youth” statue attributed to the Greek sculptor Lysippus, the Port Authority that was closest to the place of disembarking, thus preventing the mandatory devolution of a find having artistic and archeological value to the Italian State.
Fano, August 1964 

ROMEO PIRANI, GUIDO FERRI
Count c -  for the felony punished by Articles 110 c.p., 48-68 of Law no. 1089 of 1939 as in conspiracy among them, in their above cited capacities, they omitted to report the object of extraordinary artistic and archeological value to the competent Ministerial Office   (“Sopraintendenza alle Belle Arti”)
Fano, August 1964.
ROMEO PIRANI, GUIDO FERRI
Count d – for the felony punished by Article 110 c.p., Article 97 et seq of Law no. 1424 of 1940 because through the above cited actions, they have violated the applicable custom duty obligations prescribed for the importation of the object. 

Fano, August 1964. 

The notice of the crime originated from a complaint submitted by the Association  "Le Cento Città". 

The material object of the alleged crimes was represented by a statute named the “Victorious Youth” attributed to the Greek sculptor Lysippus. 

Romeo Pirani was the Captain of the fishing boat Ferruccio Ferri, Guido Ferri was the ship owner. The  Barbettis, considered as the smugglers of the statue, were involved also in a previous criminal procedure where they had been accused of fencing the statue. 

The decree indicated that all crimes had extinguished by statute of limitation and in any case following the death of some of the individuals who were under investigation.
The Judge for the Execution rejected the requested forfeiture of the statue: the Court based its decision on the lack of evidence attesting the identity between the statue found in the sea by the fishermen of Fano and that in possession of the Museum. 

The Court also made an analysis of the applicable legislation and concluded that the forfeiture of an object cannot be ordered against a person who has not taken part to the crime… when said entity proves having become the owner thereof without violating its due diligence duties and was therefore in good faith.
To this purpose the Judge analyzed the argument on the legality of the original purchase title brought by the defense of the American Museum and motivated its decision as here below summarized:
. . . the Getty Museum having acquired the statue in London from a person other than the individuals under investigation (... in 1977 from the Artemis consortium . . .) must be considered extraneous to the crime of Article 66 Law no. 1089/39. . .No doubt that the Getty Museum was extraneous to the smuggling crime (the purchase of the statue was executed after the statue had already exited the national territory) . . . The decision of the Court of Appeal of Rome that finally acquitted the defendants Pietro Barbetti, Fabio Barbetti and Barbetti Giacomo was of 1970. These defendants have been acquitted from the charges of fencing, also because the existence of the underlying crime was not certain, this being an essential prerequisite for the crime of fencing. So before the Museum Getty acquired the sculpture, there had been a final judgment issued by an Italian Court that excluded the crime of fencing and its underlying crime. In a similar situation it is hard to affirm a negligence on charge of the purchaser for ignoring the illegal introduction into the market of the statue . . . In fact here, not only is it impossible to sustain that the legal representatives of the Getty Museum, as last purchasers of the statue, were involved in possible forgeries, but also the very same existence of these crimes must be excluded. . . 

On 29.11.2007 the Public Prosecutor appealed the above cited decision in that it failed to order the requested forfeiture of the object and on 10. 12.2008 the Judge for the Execution set the date of 20.4.2009 for a closed-door hearing to discuss said appeal, summoning the parties and, in particular, the one which would be most affected by the forfeiture and which, based on an international letter rogatory, was identified being Mr. Stephen W. Clark, as legal representative of the Jean Paul Getty Museum of Los Angeles.
At said hearing in front of the Judge the following parties were present: the Public Prosecutor, the representative of the J.P. Getty Museum, the representative of the association "Le Cento Città", and the State’s Lawyer (“Avvocatura dello Stato”).
The defense of Mr. Clark submitted a written brief of 20 pages which detailed all historical events relating to the finding (in non territorial waters) and the circulation of the statue and developed a series of legal arguments relating to the lack of jurisdiction of the Italian Courts and, in the merits, of any criminal liability on charge of the representatives of the Californian Museum. It further stated that, in any event, since all hypothetically configurable crimes were extinguished by statute of limitation the Judge for the Execution was in any case prevented (even so more in a procedure of execution not pursuable by the Public Prosecutor) from imposing new sanctions on a decided matter considering that, by constant case law (also European), the forfeiture can only be linked to a conviction sentence. It further highlighted many elements supporting the good faith of the Museum at the time of the  purchase and noted that the statue could be seen by anyone without paying any admittance ticket since the Museum was not a profit making institution.
It further submitted numerous exhibits represented by duplicates of the following documents:
- opinion dated 4.10 .1972 of Mr.Vittorio Grimaldi;
- sale and purchase deed between D.C. Etablissement and the J. P. Getty Museum;

- letter dated 27 .7.1977 of the J.P. Getty Museum;
- guarantee letter by Banque Bruxelles Lambert; 

- minutes of the extraordinary meeting of the Board of Trustees of the J.P. Getty Museum of 27.7.1977;
- sale and purchase agreement dated 27.7.1977.
The case was adjourned to the hearing of 12.6.2009. On 5.6.2009 the Avvocatura dello Stato submitted a brief of 36 pages requesting the Judge to reject all preliminary and procedural arguments raised by the defense of the Museum. At the hearing of 12.6.2009 the Judge issued – by reading – a 16-page ordinance which rejected all above mentioned preliminary objection and defenses. 
Additional evidence was introduced. 
Upon the request of the Museum’s defense the following 24 exhibits, translated from the English language, were admitted: 
· Press release dated  21.11.1977 (The J. Paul  Getty Museum acquires an antique bronze masterpiece);
· Press release dated 27.2.1979 (Statement relating to the Getty Bronze);
· Press release dated l l.4.1979 (The Getty Bronze now in exhibition);
· Transfer deed between Etablissement and the J. Paul Getty Museum relating to the purchase of the Greek bronze statue;
· Agency agreement between Banque Bruxelles Lambert and the J. Paul Getty Museum by means of which the former guaranteed to JPGM the fulfillment by Artemis SA and Etabilissement DC of the sale and purchase agreement of an art object of  27.7.1977 executed between the J. Paul Getty Museum, Antiken, Herzer & Co, Etabilissement DC and Artemis SA;
· Letter dated 11.8. 1977 sent to the Trustees of the J. Paul Getty Museum by Mr. Norris Bramlet relating to the agreement executed with the Boston Museum of Fine Arts for the exhibition of the statue for a period of approximately seven months;
· Minutes of the extraordinary meeting of the Board of Trustees of the J. Paul Getty Museum held on 27.7.1977 having as its object the evaluation, proposal and subsequent resolution to purchase the statue;
· Sale and purchase agreement of an art object dated 27.7.1977 executed between the J. Paul Getty Museum and Antiken, Herzer & Co. as agent of Etabilissement DC, a company 100% owned by Artemis SA; 
· Notice by the J. Paul Getty Museum to the Conservator to enact all necessary actions for the transfer of the specified objects;
· Letter dated 28.7.1977 by the J. Paul Getty Museum, represented by Sally H. Ela, to the Boston Museum of Fine Arts, Conservator’s Office; 
· Bill of air lading,
· Special custom invoice; 
· Invoice issued on 2.8.1977 by David Carritt Ltd in its capacity as Agent of Etablissement D.C. to the JPGM,
· Letter dated 28.7.1977 sent to Mrs. Linda Thomas, Conservator of the Boston Museum of Fine Arts by Sally H. Ela, Conservator;
· Two telegrams of 28 July and 5 August 1977, one telex of 5 August 1977 relating to the shipment of the statue; 
· An invoice issued by T. Rogers & Co Packers (Shipment company) to the J. Paul Getty Museum for the shipment of the statue;
· Receipt of the Boston Museum of Fine Arts dated 26.8.1977 signed by the Consevator Sally H. Ela;
· Letter dated 8.7.1977 sent by Antiken H. Herzer & Co represented by Heinz Herzer to Dr. Jiri Frel, J. Paul Getty Museum;
· Opinion of Mr. Vittorio Grimaldi with attached (in English): judgment no. 181 dated 18 May 1966 pronounced by the Court of Perugia, judgment no. 13 dated 27.1.1967 pronounced by the Court of Appeal of Perugia, judgment no. 1291 dated 22.5.1968 pronounced by the Court of Cassation, judgment no. 2089 dated 18.11.1970 pronounced by the Court of Appeal of Rome;
· Letter dated 4.10.1972 sent by Mr. Vittorio  Grimaldi to Stuart T. Peeler, Trustee of the JPGM
· Letter dated 14.9.1973 sent by Mr.  Herbert Brownell to Mr. Vittorio Grimaldi;
· Letter dated l.10.1973 sent by Mr.  Brownell to Mr.  Vittorio Grimaldi.
The Judge for the Enforcement appointed (hearing of 6.7.2009) an expert for the translation of the documents in the English language: in particular those which constituted the so-called Lysippus dossier, including the letter dated 26.6.1973 and the translation of the statement rendered on 26.4.1977 by Stephen G. Garrett contained in the note of the Carabinieri of 27.11.2007. During the same hearing the Judge admitted the deposit of an electronic file containing the video of a documentary that the ABC channel had shown on 29.4.1979. 

The translator submitted the translations of the deeds on 11.9.2009 (pages 728 to 980). 

At the hearing of 26.10.2009 - each party being entitled to challenge - the following exhibits were admitted: the file of the criminal procedure of the Court of Gubbio, two reports of the Investigation Police and the written statement of the Chief of Carabinieri La Torre. The Judge authorized the defense of Mr. Clark to obtain written statements from the individuals whose oral audition had been excluded. The case was adjourned to the hearing of 21.12.2009.
On 11.12.2009 the defense of Mr. Clark presented the indexed documents which may be consulted from page l335 to 1512.
On 15.12.2009 the defense of Mr. Clark presented a written brief requesting the Judge for the Execution to file a case with the Constitutional Court for alleged constitutional illegitimacy of Articles 127 and 666 of the Criminal Procedure Code in that they precluded the party requesting it to hold public hearings, thus limiting the right of defense of said party. 
With public ordinance read at the hearing of  21.12 .2009  the Judge declared the issue not relevant and manifestly not grounded. The case was adjourned to the hearing of 15.1.2010. 

On 9.1.2010, in preparation of said hearing, the defense of Mr. Clark (Mr. Emanuele Rimini was appointed as co-counsel, in addition to Mr. Gaito) submitted briefs with attached documents (which may be consulted at pages 1928-1986) 

The Judge for the Execution ordered the forfeiture of the statue with decision filed with the Chancery on 11.2.2010.
The decision is divided in six sections (Premises,  Reconstructions of the various transfers of the statue, Legal regime of the object, Purchase of cultural objects in violation of the legal prohibitions, Invalidity regime of the sale, Applicability of the forfeiture with the respect to the provisions set forth under Article 174 of Legislative Decree 42 of 2004 and Article 240 c.p., The forfeiture foreseen by Article 174 of Legislative Decree no. 42 of 2004 and the notion of ownership by a third party extraneous to the crime) .
On 13.2.2010 the defense of Mr. Clark filed an appeal in front of the Court of Cassation. The Court "converted” the appeal into an opposition and remanded the case to the Court of Pesaro which on 3.5.2012 ordered the forfeiture of the statue. This was followed by a new appeal filed by Mr. Clark’s defense in front of the Court of Cassation. The Court (ordinance no. 24356 dated 4.6.2014) filed a case for constitutional illegitimacy which led to the Constitutional Court’s decision no. 97 of 15 April 2015, published on 5.6.2015. This decision, as known, has declared the constitutional illegitimacy of Article 666 section three, Article 667 section five and 676 of the Criminal Procedure Code in that these provisions do not allow, upon the request of the interested parties, the opposition against forfeiture orders to be held in front of the Judge for the Execution in the form of public hearing. 

In consequence of this decision, the Court of Cassation (judgment no. 49317 dated 27.10.2015) squashed the decision of the Court of Pesaro dated 5.5.2012 remanding the case to said Court for a new opposition procedure. The new execution procedure was started under SIGE no. 35 of 2016 during which, each party given the opportunity to challenge and throughout public hearings, extensive documentary evidence and many oral depositions were introduced (Stephen Garrett, Deborah De Mott, James Wilson, Stephen Clark). The parties submitted their defensive briefs and concluded during the hearing of 5.2.2018. 

II. The reasons for the opposition
It has been argued that the forfeiture order is contradictory because it bases on a fundamental misunderstanding: the defense of the Californian Museum has at all times challenged the application of Italian law, and it has not been cleared whether for the Judge the statue, given its finding in non-territorial waters, had to be deemed as fallen in the ownership of the fishermen of Fano or whether the same had to be considered from the origin property of the State by way of "nationalization" (as movable asset part of the State’s unmarketable patrimony). The Judge who pronounced the appealed order has followed this second option and, to justify the application of Italian law, he has been forced to refer to the principle of article 51 of Law no. 218 of 1995 (which sets out the criteria better known as lex rei sitae). This, however, encounters two limitations which have not been mentioned in the motivation of the decision: this law was enacted after the purchase of the statue and the place in which the object has been located at least since 1977 (seamlessly) is California. 

But even if Italian law was to be applied, the uninterrupted possession of the object from its purchase in July 1977, meeting all the prerequisites set out in Articles 1153 and 1161 of the Italian Civil Code, would lead to the conclusion that the Museum  became its legitimate owner, as there were only three years from the date of disclosure (to the press) of the news of the purchase for the owner to start a possible claim and in any case the statute of limitation would have to be calculated in accordance with the laws of California. Also an extensive due diligence had been carried out, mainly on the comprehensive and unequivocal documents provided by Mr. Hertzer to Jiri Frel within the “second” negotiation which was resumed after Paul Getty’s death in the summer of 1977. The statue remained for a long time with an art dealer in Germany and this excludes the application of Italian law because for art objects there is no continuity of transfers (public registrar for real estate properties, endorsements on credit titles). In 1977 the Italian trials had been closed and the German Authorities had revoked the seizure which had been previously ordered on the statue; for the purchaser this entailed a license to sell. 

The opponents deeply criticize the forfeiture order also for its interpretation on the nature of the object and its consequent legal regime: the crimes for which the individuals were put under investigation had been allegedly committed between 1964 and 1973 and so only law no. 1089 of 1939 and the Italian Civil Code could come into question. The Judge for the Execution has therefore wrongfully referred to the Statute of Art Objects (“Testo Unico sui Beni Culturali”) of 1999 no. 4901 and to Legislative Decree 42 of 2001. The alleged legal continuity between these laws does not per se exclude that the new laws have abrogated the preceding ones and the case should not have been resolved in total disregard of the law changes enacted throughout time (jus superveniens). Furthermore, from an Italian law perspective, the object could not be considered non-marketable (“extra commercium”) as it could have in principle been transferred by any owner (“a domino”) had there been a Ministerial authorization. The Judge has therefore incorrectly applied the Urban Code and, in particular, the forfeiture provided for under Article 174 of said Code. By doing so, the Judge has distorted the rules contained in Articles 1153 and 1161 of the Civil Code and has violated constitutional and European principles (Article 7 of the European Convention on Human Rights, CEDU) by applying a sanctioning measure (the forfeiture) which is not subject to the procedural rules applicable to preventive measure (“tempus regit actum”). The order failed to consider the non-retroactivity of any sanction or punishment imposed by a law entered into force after the commitment of the crime, even more so considering that the forfeiture would be enforced against a foreign located entity. In other words, the Judge for the Execution has applied to the case a set of rules which were enacted at least 25 years after the commitment of the alleged crime. And, in doing so, the Judge has grounded the principle of non-marketability of the object on different law provisions than those in force at the time of the transfer deed. The reference to Article 65 of the Urban Code is therefore totally out of place. 
The appealed order is incorrect also where it states that it would be impossible to consider the Museum extraneous to the crimes of illegal exportation and where it defines the concept of ownership of the object (these notions, as known, are defined in Article 174 of the Urban Code). The Museum’s defense notes that already Article 66 of Law no. 1089 of 1989 had been the object of an intervention by the Constitutional Court (judgment no. 2 of 1987) which clarified that it would be in violation of the Constitution to order the forfeiture of a protected object illegally exported where the same lies in the possession of a third party that was not the author of the crime and had not in any way taken advantage from the crime itself, this being in contrast with Article 27 of the Constitution as it would trigger a criminal objective liability. 

The Museum did not share any economic interest with the alleged authors of the crime because for at least seven years the statue remained on the German market, there had been the decision on the seizure by the Court of Munich and the Italian State, despite the various criminal procedures, had not started any recovery action. Furthermore the Judge for the Execution has forced the literal formulation of the above cited Article 174 by restricting – while at the same time recognizing in the appealed decision that this provision sets an exception to the rule of Article 240 c.p.- the category of non-attachable third parties. In fact, even  assuming that the statue was absolutely unmarketable (Article 826 e.e.), the Judge totally disregarded the position of the Museum as owner of the object, thus substantially depriving of any significance the cited Article 174. The defense of the Museum, on the contrary, moving from the principle of law pronounced by the Court of Cassation in Joint Chambers on 28.4.1999, notes that the definition of "third party extraneous to the crime" shall refer to any entity which, even when deriving an advantage from the criminal activities of another party, finds itself in a situation of innocent reliance caused by an apparent situation that excuses its ignorance or lack of diligence. According to the defense of the Museum the Judge for the Execution has unreasonably overestimated the negative element consisting in the Museum’s failure to request to the seller the original sale agreement of 9.6.1971 that had also been addressed during the previous negotiations conducted by Jean Paul Getty senior. From a civil law standpoint it appears very peculiar that an agreement executed in 1977 between two entities domiciled in Germany and in the U.S.A., linked to a transaction executed in 1971 in Brazil between Italian vendors and a Luxemburgish buyer, can be pronounced invalid. But, even so, the defense of the Museum argues that the are in any case numerous and convergent elements attesting the good faith of the Museum: a qualified seller had guaranteed to the Museum the legal provenance of the object, the various criminal procedures started in Italy and in Germany throughout time had been all closed a few years before and the relevant decisions had been acknowledged within the negotiations, the Italian State did not enter any procedure as civil party and did not start any recovery action, and in 1972 a German Court even provided a license to sell the object by dismissing all accusations against Mr. Hertzer in 1972 and then again in 1974 (three years before the execution of the purchase contact) by revoking the seizure of the object deeming the rogatory requested by the Italian investigation authorities not enforceable. Also Mr. Getty senior had submitted scrupulous requests to the seller regarding the legality of the transaction, had received them and had been reassured by the influential positive opinion expressed by Mr. Stuart Peeler, and the conclusion of the contract was postponed only for price reason (see the statements made by Mr. Clark during the procedure). The legal assessment of Mr. Peeler, who had assisted Mr. Getty senior and who was a member of the Board of the Getty Trust at the time of the purchase, had been very important because the influential law expert had received (this fact had not been known to the founder) official communication of the favorable dismissal of all criminal investigation against Mr. Herzer in Germany. And last, the Judge for the Execution has misrepresented a factual element in assuming that the Museum knew that the Court of Gubbio had started new investigations before the purchase of July 1977, and this is because the first deeds of this procedure were of November 1977.
All this given, the following aspects shall be examined.
III. Brief reconstruction of the transfers of the statue 
In general, the defense of Mr. Clark and the other parties are not in disagreement on the historical events surrounding the find, as they have been described in the appealed decision, which accurately summarized the main elements. Integral reference and point of order shall be therefore made to pages 4-15 of said decision. It can also be said that, based on the evidence collected during this appeal procedure,  these facts have not undergone any significant change. The statue was found by coincidence in the sea where it ended attached to the net of the fishing boat of Messrs. Pirani and Ferri in 1964. It was brought to land at the Port of Fano without being reported to the competent Authorities and was hidden in a home in Carrara (a town within the municipality of Fano) by Mr. Felici, a friend of Mr. Ferri. The statue was then transferred to the antique dealers Barbetti, transported to Gubbio in the house of a priest (Nagni) who held it until May 1965. This can be inferred from the fact that in the same year the Carabinieri of Aprilo discovered that the Barbettis had travelled to Germany with the intention to sell a statue of great value. A criminal procedure was opened against the Barbettis and Mr. Nagni for the felony punished by Article 648 c.p. in relation to the felony punished by Article 67 of Law no. 1089 of 1939. The home searches did not lead to any positive result and this circumstance explains why the criminal procedures were closed in 1970 with the judgment of the Court of Appeal of Rome that acquitted the defendants for lack of evidence on the underlying crime: there were no convincing elements on the nature of the artifact and on the place of its finding. There is then an "obscure" timeframe between May 1965 and 1972 when the statue was presumed to be in possession of the antique dealer Mr. Herzer in Munich. The following year the Italian Carabinieri went to the German city to try to see the statue, received confirmation that it was in the availability of the antique dealer who, however, did not allow them to see and photograph the statue. The Court of Gubbio, which had opened a case for illegal exportation of an art object, sent a rogatory letter request. In 1974 the German authorities rejected the requested rogatory cooperation, dismissed the case and informed Mr. Herzer that he could consider the statue in his availability. The Carabinieri of Imola received notice that Renato Merli had seen in 1964 the statue covered by marine encrustations while it was still with its finders; interrogated on 24.11.1977 he gave to the Carabinieri a picture of the statue that had been taken in that occasion. Mr. Merli and the captains of the fishing boats were heard as persons informed on the facts. They located the coincidental finding of the object while fishing not far off from the coast of Pedaso. The Court of Gubbio was informed of the transfer of the statue by a Luxemburgish company that had shipped it (bill of lading dated 15.8.1977) to Boston and, unsuccessfully, sent rogatry letter requests to Great Britain, Belgium and the United States. The object remained for a while with the Museum of said city and then entered into the possession of the Paul Getty Museum. The agent of Artemis, David Carritt, stated that after the purchase in 1974 the statue arrived in London and was sent to Munich (Germany) at the Museum of Classical Art for its restoration. After its restoration the object arrived in London and became the object of a negotiation led directly by the tycoon Paul Getty. This negotiation did not have a positive outcome and the famous businessman died. The Museum named after his founder finalized the deal in July 1977. The Court of Gubbio closed the criminal procedure deciding not to proceed to trial on 25.11.1978, because the authors of the illegal exportation of the object to Great Britain and the United States, whose authorities had rejected the rogatory requests sent by the Court of Gubbio, still remained unidentified. Other (unsuccessful) initiatives were taken for the recovery of the artifact in 1982 (meeting at the Italian Ministry with representatives of the Museum), 1989 (letter of Prof. Sisinni, General Director of the Ministry for Archeological Objects, to the Director of the Getty Museum), 1996 (initiative of the Italian Consul in Los Angeles with the Director of the Getty Museum, Marion True), discussion during 2006 between the Italian Ministry and the Getty Museum.
These events were followed by the onset of a new criminal procedure in 2007 by the Public Prosecutor with the Court of Pesaro, which was dismissed by the Court who also denied the requested forfeiture. This decision was appealed by the Public Prosecutor who then obtained the requested order of forfeiture, which is now opposed by the entity which would be prejudiced by said measure.
IV Procedural issues
It has been argued that this interlocutory procedure (as well as the one ended with the order dated 11.2.2010) should be subject to the ruling of the cited decision no. 109/2015 of the Constitutional Court and be held in observance of mostly all fair trial rules (this arises from the minutes of the hearings where it had been argued whether it was necessary to give prior reading of all deeds to be used for the decision or where an immediate publication of the decision had to be encouraged). Actually, the Constitutional Court has only ruled that interlocutory procedures which may affect the rights of different entities than the ones who are the direct defendants of the criminal action cannot be held with closed doors. In the present case this principle has been strictly observed, all documentary and oral evidence requested by the parties has been admitted, leading to a phase of evidence acquisition which lasted almost two years and allowing also to witnesses domiciled abroad and who were particularly aged to provide their contribution. And it must be noted that the Court of Cassation with the cited decision no. 49317 of 2015 has already recognized that the annulment cannot affect the phase, possibly interlocutory and provisional, of the primitive decision where the forfeiture was originally ordered, because in this phase, that allowed for a decision to be taken without auditioning the affected party, each party was given - although non-ritually - the possibility to defend itself and challenge the other party, with the consequence that the party impacted by the executive forfeiture has benefited from more guarantees than the one legally provided. 

It has been argued that the “Avvocatura  dello  Stato”  and the Association “Cento  Città” were not entitled to take part to the execution procedure. This argument is not grounded and this has already been resolved by the Court of Cassation with decision no. 24356 of 2014 concluding that … when the decision at stake is the forfeiture of an object which is not in the possession of the author of the crime, the Judge has to allow the participation of all interested subjects which are known to him . .

It has been argued that the Public Prosecutor could not make use of an interlocutory execution procedure instead of appealing (in front of the Court of Cassation) the decision rejecting the forfeiture. On this issue the decisive and preclusive arguments ruled by the Court of Cassation with decision no. 6558 del 2011 shall be recalled.

It has been argued that in the execution procedure the Judge is not vested with all the powers of a full trial and that, therefore, he cannot carry out all assessments which would be necessary to establish, for the first time, a pretermitted criminal liability in furtherance to a prior case dismissal to which the Public Prosecutor has shown acquiescence. According to this interpretation, the execution procedure would have the only function to examine non-essential aspects of the execution order and could never be the place where for the first time situations are assessed which may lead to a full decision in the merits of the case, thus forming an enforceable title which was prior non existing. If it were to be used for this scope, the procedure should respect the minimum requirements foreseen by of Article 111 of the Constitution. In fact, the defense of Mr. Clark argues that it would be necessary to submit another constitutional illegitimacy case to the Constitutional Court for violation of Articles 3,25, 27, 42, 111 and 117 of the Constitution as well as, in any case, a prejudicial motion to the Court of Justice of the European Union pursuant to Article 267 of the TFUE (Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union) in respect of Article 7 CEDU (European Convention of Human Rights) and Article 1 of Protocol no. l. In respect of this issue, it cannot be denied that the aim of the Public Prosecutor is that to forfeit an object that lies in the possession of a foreign entity and which Italy claims being part of its unmarketable patrimony and illegally taken out of the country. Likewise, however, it cannot be denied that the ascertainment devolved to the Judge of the Execution is an assessment as of the current state. And the forms by which the lawmaker has structured the interlocutory execution procedure are not inadequate to safeguard the rights of a proper defense, because the party (other than the one under investigation) that would be prejudiced by the forfeiture is given the chance (during a hearing that shall even be public) to submit all elements showing why the requirements for the adoption of the forfeiture are not met. After all, the forfeiture is a proteic and multifaceted measure, which is more and more used to contrast international criminal activities and this also in cases where the crime has for whatever reason extinguished (Cassation 24356 of 2014). The corollary of this is that a forfeiture is possible also where the crime that grounds it has been excluded by the trial judge or it has been declared extinguished either for death of the defendant or by statute of limitation. 
The appealed decision has ordered the forfeiture on the grounds of Article 174 Section Three of the Urban Code (although the order cites also Article 240 of the Criminal Code). Despite appreciating the arguments submitted by the defense of the opponent, what is decisive to note (Cassation, decisions no. 9156 of 2017 and no. 42458 of 2015) is that the forfeiture here under discussion has a recovery scope and, hence, it is excluded from the principles of the CEDU decision in the Varvara case, based on which it is not possible to order a criminal forfeiture in absence of a full ascertainment of the defendant’s guilt. The cited Article 174, applicable to objects of artistic historical and archeological value, which have been illegally exported or which have been illegally removed from Italy, provides for a mandatory forfeiture unless these objects belong to a subject who is extraneous to the crime. The scope of this provision is that to provide an indirect protection to the art object, as part of a set of sanctioning measures that safeguards the Public Administrations entrusted by the law with the task to protect and value the State’s cultural patrimony. The sanction requires that the exportation is made in the absence of the prescribed authorization and it is this specific omission that per se constitutes the negative value of the conduct. In these cases, if there has been a prior criminal procedure, a forfeiture can be excluded only if the procedure has been closed for a cause that severs the link between the crime and the object. In line with this interpretation the forfeiture foreseen by the Urban Code does not represent a special provision of Article 240 of the Italian Criminal Code, because it does not depend from the direct or indirect hazardousness of the object. This measure aims, on the contrary, to allow that the artistic object (“res extra commercium”) is returned to the State and to its patrimony. This is why interlocutory procedures initiated for the issuance of a forfeiture order do not require the Judge to ascertain the criminal liability of the party which would be impacted by the forfeiture, as the only task of the Judge is that to ascertain whether the criminal conducts to which the law links the forfeiture are given and, with the reference to the position of the extraneous third party, whether the presumption of the State’s ownership over the art object can be superseded or not, depending as to whether the object belongs to the third party and whether said party is extraneous to the underlying crime. The decision no. 49 of 2015 of the Constitutional Court allows to conclude that there is no incompatibility between a sentence that ascertains the extinguishment of the crime by statute of limitation and the ascertainment of the liabilities for the facts underlying the forfeiture, and this is because in the Italian present procedural system the Judge has wide powers of ascertainment and of decision which he needs to account for in the motivation of his subsequent decision through adequate evidence standards that are way more substantiate than mere stylistic expressions. In other words, in order not to violate the principles set out in Articles 6 and 7 CEDU (legality, presumption of non guiltiness of the defendant, fair trial) the given procedure shall only guarantee that each party is given the right to challenge, that all evidence is properly collected, that the hearing is publicly held and that the final decision is properly motivated because the Judge for the Execution is in any case a criminal Judge having the power to resolve also in an interlocutory manner any issue from which the decision depends (article 2 of the Criminal Procedure Code as interpreted by the Court of Cassation with decision no.  12433 of 2017).

V. Definition of cultural object 
There can be no doubt that the statue is to be classified as cultural object because of the time of its making, its author and its intrinsic characteristics, which confer to the same those traits representing (as already under the Nasi Law 185 of 1902 and the Rosadi Law 364 of 1909) the “aesthetic” requirements set out by Law no. 1089 del 1939 to entail the qualification of an object as art object, as such protected and placed out of the market (“extra commercium”). Furthermore, the object has the qualities of a cultural object also according to the wider definition contained in legislative decree no. 42 of 2004 which is the statutory continuance of the preceding laws in this subject matter. Knowingly, Articles 10 and 11 identify the decisive criteria to be used when establishing the artistic and historical value of an object which, for this reason, necessarily becomes ownership of the State, following to the corresponding declaration and verification procedures (which in this case were prevented by the hidden exportation). The cultural trait is not a consequence of the outcome of the administrative verification procedure, as it rather relates to the intrinsic characteristics of the object (so ruled by the Court of Cassation for instance with decision no. 2995 of 2006) as a material testimony of the value of a civilization in a specific historical time and in a specific geographical context (The Hague Treaty of 14.5.1954, Law no. 5 of 29.1.1975, art. 36 of the EU Treaty). The Italian Constitution (Article 9) as well as the international treaties (Unesco Treaty 1970, Unidroit  Treatues 1995) allow States to enact measures aimed at preventing the illegal exportation of cultural objects, thus legitimating also positions which can be defined as protectionist. According to this doctrine (prevailing in the so-called source-States) the cultural object is an expression of the identity of a country and its eradication from its original territory leads to a loss or in any case to an irreparable impoverishment. The opposite doctrine is that of internationalists or cultural liberals (typical of market-States, such as indeed the U.S.A.) according to which cultural objects belong to humanity and shall be made accessible to everyone, also because the States having more antiquities often lack the political will, or more simply do not have the means, to adequately protect their patrimony. It is not a coincidence that during the course of this opposition it has been argued that, not only would the possible forfeiture not be enforced in the U.S.A. because they ensure their cooperation only if the object is found to be stolen or originating from clandestine excavations, but also that its forfeiture would be inappropriate because the visibility offered by the Californian Museum is immeasurably higher than that of any other Italian institution. So the pending procedure, even before being based on interpretational contrasts, is also significantly impacted by very different ideological positions. The legislation of source-States is guided by the rule according to which the circulation of cultural goods underlies a general "prohibition, with reserve of permission ", the legislation of market-States on the contrary is guided by the "permission, with reserve of prohibition" rule. And there is no doubt that the restitution obligations (foreseen in the 1970 Unesco and in the 1995 Unidroit Treaties) have been formulated with such a generic wording that makes it very difficult to find a  compromise between those jurisdictions that protect the buyer in good faith and the other ones that do not recognize any effect to a transfer of ownership enacted by someone who is not the owner. And this is because cultural objects, when located outside their place of origin, may be treated as ordinary goods subject to free trade. This assumption is easily confirmed just by acknowledging that the UN-database known as COMMODITY TRADE STATISTIC  DATA  BASE  (which refers to international transactions relating to objects with more than 100 years of history) primarily considers two categories of objects (HS9705 historic archeological, HS9706 antiques). This said, the defense of the Museum (not supporting any longer the argument underlying the uncertain identification of the statue found in 1964 with the statue located in California, also because the procedural exhibits contain the declaration of Dario Felici, friend of Guido Ferri, who had buried the statue in his garden waiting to deliver it to the buyers. The man confirmed that the fragment shown to him by Carabinieri was the one that had detached from the statue while it was being unburied) argues that the connection of the "Bronze" to Italy is a tenuous one (the reference to the requirement of a “relevant connection” contained in the Unesco treaty is evident) because the statue is the product of a Greek sculptor of times before Christ and it was found in high sea. As diverse as the various hypothesis of the antique experts could be (original, Roman copy, itinerant model, part of an imperial collection), the bronze sculpture can be attributed to the Greek artist Lysippus and its (certainly not marginal) connection with Italy can be inferred when considering that at the time of the statue’s making the artist had most probably visited Rome and Taranto, but also that Greece and Rome had solid relations and that, thereafter, the Roman civilization set the continuance of the Hellenic one. The fact that the object was found in the sea with significant encrustations implies that there had been a sinking during its transportation and this is sufficient – even when not considering the relevance of the statue’s finding events of 1964 - to establish a significant connection between the cultural object and Italy. In any case, the archive note dated 30.8.1972 submitted by the opponent refers to a telephone conversation between Paul Getty and Noris Bramlett (factotum of the former and member of the Board of Trust of the Museum) during which the tycoon confided to his main associate that the find was an almost unique piece and that it could have never exited Greece of Italy.
VI. Legal regime of the object
The opponents argue that when ordering the forfeiture the Judge for the Execution has wrongfully applied Italian law, so violating the principles of international private law, in particular the rule known as lex rei sitae. The sale to the Museum was indeed executed in a jurisdiction other than Italy and so was the transfer from the Barbettis to Mr. Hertzer (1971 Brazil). Therefore, in 1977 the buyer did not have the duty to observe the limitations to the statue’s marketability imposed by Italian legislation. These arguments are not grounded: if the object is a movable asset the law linking criteria is necessarily variable and there can be conflicts among the laws of various jurisdictions. The solution to these conflicts depends on how one defines the notion of “place in which the good is located” (article 22 of the fore-laws to the Italian Civil Code, which was in force at that time, and article 51 of Law No. 218 of 1995 which has substituted this provision leaving its content substantially unmodified) at the time of the execution of the deed or action based on which the object was transferred. And so, in principle, one could give prevalence to the place in which the robbery took place, or to that where the main ownership transfer was executed, but also to the place where the judicial protection is sought. In this respect, it has to considered that the rules protecting the artistic, archaeological and historical patrimony of a nation are rules of necessary application given their object and their scope and they shall always prevail on any foreign law. These are public policy rules because through them the lawmakers intended to protect the State’s interest to seek restitution or return of cultural objects which were stolen or illegally exported, thus implementing constitutional principles (article 9 Constitution) as well rules of international treaties to which Italy is a party (according to the Unesco Treaty of 1970 and the Unidroit Treaty of 1995 Member States shall cooperate for the restitution of cultural objects illegally taken out from the territory of another Member State). In other words the provision set out in article 31 of the fore-laws (which is identical to the one nowadays contained in article 16 of Law No. 218 of 1995) entitles the Italian Judge to disregard any foreign law whose effects are contrary to principles of public policy. In the present case it was clearly found that the crimes of smuggling and illegal exportation of a cultural object have been committed in Italy; therefore, considering that by way of law the statue became part of the unmarketable cultural patrimony of the Italian State from the moment of its finding, the forfeiture (provided for under article 66 of Law No. 1089 of  1939 and under article 501 of Presidential Decree no. 301 of 1973) is a mandatory rule of necessary application (see Court of Cassation - judgment no. 27592 of 2006). The final criminal judgments were not binding for the Judge for the Execution because these were rendered within trials initiated for different crimes (robbery, fencing); while the other decisions, rendered up to date, decided solely not to proceed to trial due to lacks in the implementation of the international letters rogatory abroad which had prevented the collection of the necessary evidence.

In the present case the place in which the object was found is to be located in the Italian territorial waters based on the statements rendered in December 1977 by Romeo Pirani and Guido Ferri to the Carabinieri (a few miles from the coast where the fishing nets were thrown and which notoriously are not used in deep waters). Before that - 26.11.1977 - Renato Merli who had received confidences from the finders – reported the same circumstance. In 2007 other members of the crew (Rosato Athos, deckhand) reported different information on the place where the statue was found, but it has to be said that the above cited statements are more reliable, if only because rendered approx. 13 years after the finding. Captain Pirani, when rendering his statement, accused himself of robbery of an archeological find and this increases his trustworthiness. Since the statue was then disembarked in Italy and from there illegally transferred to various buyers, it must be presumed that the statue became part of the State’s patrimony (pursuant, at that time, to article 49 of Law no. 1089 of 1939, as nowadays confirmed and unmodified by article 91 of the Urban Code). This means that anyone who intends to state the contrary has to prove it (law principle set out by the Court of Cassation with judgment no. 10303 of 2017). On this issue, the defense of the opponent has presented only arguments and no evidence: but even if we were to admit that the finding occurred beyond 12 nautical miles from the coast (which in 1964 was the line separating the territorial waters from the international open sea), the statue was in any case found (by coincidence) by individuals aboard an Italian ship. It is certainly not illogic to consider (as it has already been done in the Melqart case by the Court of Sciacca) the fishing net to be a direct relevance of the ship, as such subject to the same legal regime of the ship provided for under article 4 of the Navigation Code (it is deemed Italian territory). And since, although the statue was covered by encrustations, the founders immediately perceived its enormous historical, archeological and economical value (Pirani was hit by the upheld arm and by the gigantic dimensions of the object) which urged them into the (clandestine) operations of putting it into the private market, the object was clearly to be subjected to all formalities imposed by the Navigation Code and in particular to the provision contained in the third part (obligations relating to the  operation of a vessel), second part, section three (finds in the sea) i.e. Articles 510 and 511 of the Code. Whenever possible the find must be returned to its owner (Article 510); the following provision deals with the custody and sale of the object and with the rights of the finder; it provides that in case there is no owner (res nullius) the find is devolved to the State. The misunderstanding underlying the defense of the opponent is evident, as it overestimates the relevance of the place in which the object was found, whereas it is not that place that is the reason for the application of Italian law. It is rather the ship that subjects the case to Italian law because the ship (together with its relevancies) always represents state territory, also when it cruises in open sea waters. In fact, if the two articles of the Navigation Code were to refer only to finds in national waters they would be useless, because in that case the general rules on finds of archeological objects within the territory of the State would apply. Furthermore, Article 510 uses the generic term "sea" to define the place of the finding while in other provisions of the Code, when specifically desired, the law refers to "territorial waters". It has been argued that this would lead to an aberration because this fiction would trigger a sovereignty of the Italian State of "vertical, and variable geometry", with consequent disapplication of all the international treaties aimed at preventing speculative exploitations of the cultural underwater heritage. In other words, this rule would allow everyone to go out on a private ship to fish for finds in free waters for personal profit. This argument is not correct because the sovereignty underlying Article 4 of the Navigation Code is exercised on the individuals who are aboard the ship (territory of the State) and aims at avoiding – for public policy reasons – that these acquire an original ownership (“ab origine”) over certain types of historical and archeological finds that fall within the notion of cultural objects, as they have been defined in the present order. In these cases the ownership is devolved to the State and the founder has only the functional duty to allow the implementation of all public protective actions and, at most, the right to an award for finding the object. If, on the other hand, the object brought on board of the ship does not meet these requirements and it is owned by a private individual, then the general rules of original ownership acquisition shall apply.
Even assuming that the object was found in high sea, once the object was brought aboard the ship it became in any case subject to the Italian laws on the protection of cultural objects and the finders had the duty to report the find to the exportation office to obtain a possible authorization (article 42 of the cited Law no. 1089) for its temporary importation (a title certificate having a temporary duration). As it is evident and unchallenged, these are formalities that serve for the purpose of allowing the competent Authorities (“Sopraintendenze”) to carry out all necessary verifications on the find to enact the above mentioned protectionist rules. And it is not at all obvious (as the Judge for the Execution has very clearly explained in the appealed order in pages 18 and following) that the legislation on cultural object always leads to a "nationalization" because in fact the various laws applied by the Judge for the Execution represent a set of rules that has been the object of much rethinking which has been resolved by legislative decree 22.1.2004 no. 42 which has organized and unified this legislative system. Article 54 of the Urban Code distinguishes between the various types of cultural objects, those which are absolutely unmarketable and the other kind of cultural goods which are subject only to a conditional non-marketability that conditions their transfer to prior controls and authorizations . . . The Judge for the Execution concluded that the Getty Bronze statue falls under the provision of article 54 section two which refers to … movable assets owned by the subjects indicated in article 10 section 1°. . .i.e. the State... as they are the product of an already dead author and date back to more than 50 years prior to the completion of the verification procedure set out in article 12.. . This set of rules is evolving and improving but there has been no change in the laws which were applicable at the time in which the statue was brought out of Italy and which have been correctly identified by the Judge for the Execution (page 18) in articles 23 and 24, 25 and 66 of Law No. 1089 of 1939 ...in other words … a regime of conditional non-marketability. .. tightened up by the rules of the Civil Code (articles 823, 826 and 828). In this case there is documentary evidence  (the note dated 23.5.1978 of the Central Office of the Ministry of Culture) that the statue, whose picture was made available to the Ministry by the investigation authorities, had never been subjected to the above described administrative procedure. It can be therefore rightfully concluded that the finders (Mr. Ferri and Mr. Pirani) and thereafter the Barbettis (selling the statue in 1971 in Brazil to Etablissement as it appears) had exported an object which was subject to protectionist limitations and to mandatory State ownership in radical absence of all administrative requirements, with consequent configurability of the crime punished by article 66 of Law no. 1089 of 1939 and ineluctability, as mandatory recovery measure, of the forfeiture foreseen by the cited article 66.
This reconstruction also entails the crime of smuggling (articles 284 and 292 of Presidential Decree no. 43 of 1973 at the time of the facts, now articles 97 et seq of Law no. 14·24 of 194·0). The find, which had an evident commercial value (the Museum paid almost 4 million dollars for it), has been brought by the finders into Italy from international waters (if we share this assumption) without being submitted to the Custom Authorities for the imposition of the relevant tariffs and, as such, it is subject to mandatory forfeiture under article 301 of said Presidential Decree. This action is not prevented neither by the extinguishment of the crimes by way of statute of limitation nor by the subsequent transfers of the object. It is an ablative recovery action that may impact also the assets of third parties who were not involved in the commitment of the crimes, the sole limit being that (to avoid any objective liability) these parties shall be given the possibility to provide evidence that at the time of their purchase there was no reason to suspect that the object came from smuggling activities. 
And it is indeed the omission of the formalities imposed for the importation, exportation and payment of relevant custom duties that has prevented the Italian State, for more than 50 years, to identify the statue found in 1964 and to investigate on its transfers.
VII The position of the Museum: ownership of the object and extraneousness to the crime 
As explained, Italian law shall be applied also for the purpose of evaluating whether there could be any circumstance grounding an exemption from the forfeiture provided for under article 174 of the Urban Code and article 301 of Presidential Decree no. 43 of 1973, which are considered recovery measures more than criminal law measures. 

These two crimes were committed upon unlawful removal of the object out of Italy and upon disembarking the same from the fishermen’s boat without submitting it to the Custom Authorities. It is therefore with respect to these moments in time that the jurisdiction whose laws shall be applied is to be determined. And this is the reason why all arguments brought by the opponents, which were aimed at safeguarding the position of the American Museum, are ungrounded. These arguments all move from the assumption that the titles created after the commitment of the crimes in favor of the different owners are valid and enforceable against the Italian State, the sole entity which was and is the owner of the statue and which also holds the right-duty to recover it. The only position that has to be protected is that of the owner who has acquired his title before the object was exported or smuggled, and not that of any other owner having acquired title after these crimes were committed and especially not that of an entity which, as clearly explained in the appealed forfeiture order, acquired possession of the protected object on the basis of a void and ineffective transfer deed, given the general invalidity rule - set out in Article 61 of Law no. 1089 of 1939 at the times of the crimes - which invalidated the first transfer deed. The Barbettis could not have validly sold the statue because they had no ownership title over the same (or, rather, they could have sold it only by observing all customs and administrative rules and obtaining an export authorization for the statue) and the rule set out in the above cited article 61 can be considered of public policy and, as such, subject to necessary application by Italian Courts (see Article 31 of the fore-laws to the Italian Civil Code). 
The Getty Museum did not have a valid ownership title over the good before its unlawful exportation and it also lacked the other condition for enforceability of its title. Even if we were to admit that the laws of the other various jurisdictions whose laws come into question based on the places of execution of the contracts before the one of 1977 could validate this latter purchase, this would still lead us back to the insurmountable fact that based on the set of rules to be applied at that time (articles 823, 826, 828 of the Italian Code, 35 , 61 and 66 of Law no. 1089 of 1939, which have then been transferred in a continuity of laws within article 54, 64 bis, 164 and 174 of the Urban Code) there cannot be any title that can be validly enforced against the Italian State, which on the grounds of its Constitution (article 9) and international laws (Unesco Treaty) has to recover the assets of its cultural heritage that have been unlawfully transferred abroad. 
As already said, there could be an exemption from forfeiture only where the good belonged to a third party which was extraneous to the crime (section three of article 174.·of Legislative Decree no. 42 of 2004). This has been addressed in depth and correctly in pages 30-36 of the appealed forfeiture order, where the Judge for the Execution concluded that, in principle, it would have not even been necessary to verify whether the Getty Museum was in good faith or not, because in any case it had acquired a “non-marketable” object exported from Italy in violation of the corresponding special rules and limitations and, hence, would not have any legal possibility to become the owner thereof, not even by virtue of the general bona fide rules set out in articles 1153 and 1161 of the Italian Civil Code. Despite the foregoing, the Judge for the Execution has nonetheless applied the principle of law set out by the Court of Cassation in judgment no. 1927 of 2004 and has analyzed the possibility of the Museum’s extraneousness to the crime by evaluating the conduct of the 1977 buyer to determine whether there had been a lack of diligence in the control over the actions of the individual who physically and unlawfully committed the crime. The Judge for the Execution came to a negative conclusion, on the grounds of the following elements:
- the knowledge by the members of the Museum’s Board of Trustees that the statue had been the object of criminal procedures against Italian and foreign citizens both in Italy and in Germany, which procedures – having as their object different crimes than the one here under examination - were closed not by means of decisions providing any relief on the illegal nature of the good or on the commitment of the crime itself, but were rather due to "insufficient evidence" given by a lack in the investigations (the lack of cooperation provided to the Italian authorities in response to its international letters rogatory has been addressed above),
- the lack of the original title represented by the contract signed by Etablissement-Artemis (i.e. Herzer) who had purchased the statue from the vendors in Brazil on 9.6.1971,
- the unqualified and not independent nature of the positive opinions expressed on the lawful provenance of the statue, which were released only by professionals appointed, not by the Museum, but by the seller and/or seller’s representatives;
- the unexplained "change of direction" between the position of the Museum’s founder (who too concerned about possible claims by the Italian State did not finalize the deal, considering it also too expensive) and the subsequent choice made by the members of the Board of the Trustees to close the deal immediately after Mr. Getty’s death without doing any additional research to address the notorious criticalities.
The Museum has been found in possession of the letters dated 4.10.1972 and 6.11.1972 signed by Mr. Grimaldi, the attorney working in the firm of his colleague Graziadei, who at that time was the lawyer of Mr. Herzer: Paul Getty had been informed (by means of an English translation) about the judgments of the Italian Criminal Courts, the type of alleged crimes, the reasons for the release/acquittal of the defendants; it was therefore clear that the defendants had been indicted only for robbery and fencing a stolen good, not for illegal exportation and/or smuggling. The letter of 4.10.1972 described the Italian State’s failure to join the proceeding as a lack of interest in the recovery of the bronze and made a legal evaluation . . .neither the bronze nor any photo thereof has been ever presented during the trial and the public prosecution based its case exclusively on oral evidence..it has not been legally proven that this bronze was actually the one challenged in this proceeding and which, as any other movable good, became the property of Etablissement based on the "possession equals title" rule, because before doing so (in Brazil in 1971) the parties had waited that the acquittal judgment rendered by the Court of Appeal of Rome became final (1970). But on a closer look the “reassuring” interpretation provided by the Italian lawyer contained many pitfalls, in the first place because it did not mention the fact, which emerged during the Perugia trial, that the statue was sold by the Barbettis to an art dealer only a few days after its purchase from Mr. Ferri and Mr. Pirani (therefore in 1964) and this strongly collides with Mr. Grimaldi’s statement as to the fact that the same good had been purchased by Italian buyers who had been subjected to a long trial in Italy – i.e. the Barbettis – seven years thereafter. Secondly, Mr. Grimaldi did not offer any documentary evidence of the crucial transfer deed executed by the entity acting as seller to the potential US buyer. And if the statue had on the contrary always remained in Italy, hidden by the Barbettis until 1971, its transfer deed would have been affected by a criminal action of the vendor, as such incompatible with any good faith of Etabilissement which would have been at the very least condescending, if not an accomplice, to the unlawful exportation of the statue, preventing the Italian State from executing all necessary verifications on the statue in accordance with Law no. 1089 of 1939. Also Mr. Grimaldi’s legal assessment on the failure by the Italian State to initiate any recovery action appears questionable, because in all criminal cases characterized by good hiding abilities of the defendants, these typically do not provide the necessary elements to identify the good, the location where it was found, and the circumstances of its circulation. It was therefore not a coincidence that no picture was ever made available and that the restoration was made in Germany seven years after the purchase at about the same time of its transfer in July 1977 when the Museum acquired possession over the statue. 
Etablissement could therefore not be viewed as an “esteemed art dealer" who could provide quality information to the purchaser on the legality of its purchase beyond reasonable doubt. Furthermore Mr. Grimaldi failed to provide any justification – logistic? economic? - for the fact that the statue had been transferred to London only after one month (document dated 27.6.1972 sent by T. Rogers to Mr. Herzer) and had then been re-exported to Germany by air transportation where it was delivered to Mr. Herzer, without providing the potential buyer with any English and/or German custom document. These represented further indications of the illegal nature of these transfers. 
Another significant element of Mr. Herzer’s conduct relates to his letter dated l7.8.1975 to Mr. Manca (of Graziadei law firm) where he described the resistance exercised by the dealer and by his lawyer against all search attempts made within the dealer’s gallery for the purpose of identifying the statue. The Judge in charge of the investigation had been convinced during a meeting with Mr. Herzer’s lawyer not to take any picture of the statue and in the following days the investigation team gave up on the possibility to see the statue, because the crimes of the possible indictment were already time-banned by virtue of statute of limitation (which, in reality, was not the case, neither for the fencing nor for the illegal exportation, since these crimes are both punishable with imprisonment for more than 5 years). Since this letter had been known to the Museum before 1977, the same was aware that the German criminal procedure was not closed because of non-existence of the alleged crime (fencing) but only for the impossibility to identify (not even by means of a picture) the statue and the documents attesting its transfers, given the lack of "cooperation" by the suspect himself. The Public Prosecution Office in Munich acted upon a letter rogatory request by the Court of Gubbio (which was investigating on the illegal exportation this time) also in 1974 and among the documents produced during the execution procedure there are also two letters of Mr. Lang (the lawyer assisting Mr. Herzer) dated 20.3.1974 and 22.4..1974 which he sent, respectively, to the investigating officers and to his client.
In these letters it is again argued that the statue was not the one found in Fano and that Mr. Herzer had nothing to do with Artemis, which openly collided with what the same lawyer said on 17.8.1973 in a letter to Mr. Herzer. An accurate analysis of these documents would have allowed to detect this contradiction and to doubt on the integrity of the seller Etablissement Artemis. This situation was far from a “licence to sell” as it has been sustained by the opponents, because the German Judge substantially closed the case without making any investigation and (unexplainably) without overruling the resistance exercised by the suspect Mr. Herzer who refused to show the statue and to have the same captured on picture (it is very striking what Mr. Lang mentions in his letter dated 20.3.1974 to the Public Prosecutor of Munich as to the fact that any continuation of this investigation could have posed a danger of serious financial and commercial damage to Mr. Herzer).
The acquired documents and depositions confirm that Paul Getty, who died in 1976, had entered into discussions – both first-hand as well as through the representation of Mr. Frel, the curator of the Museum, Mr. Bramlett, his trusted associate and his lawyer Mr.Brownell - with Mr. Herzer over the possible purchase of the statue. Mr. Getty first acted solo and, subsequently, took took part in the joint negotiation with the Metropolitan Museum of New York (represented by Thomas Hoving). The opponents argue that the rich businessman did not finalize the purchase of the statue, despite being aware of its extraordinary value, only for economic reasons, as he deemed the price too high. Actually, however, many deeds and documents acquired during the execution procedure clearly show that there were also concerns over the legality of Mr. Herzer’s title. Mr. Hoving reported on this expressly to the Carabinieri when interrogated on 24.4.2007; it is mentioned in Mr. Getty’s letter to Mr. Herzer dated 31.8.1972 which is the object of an archive note of his trusted associate Mr. Bramlett and which refers to the necessity to obtain an unchallengeable ownership title; it is mentioned in the letter sent by Mr. Hoving to Mr. Carrit (Artemis London) on 25.6.1973 where he referred to Mr. Getty and to the necessity to obtain clarity on certain legal issues that may require qualifications or documents; it is mentioned expressly in the letter that Mr.  Frel received on 26.8.1973 from Mr. Herzer in which the two discussed about Mr. Getty’s intention to obtain reassurances on the good ownership title over the statue. When giving up the purchase of the statue, the American businessman was guided not only by economic reasons, but also by concerns over the fact that the sellers’ title carried some legal risks, as it is said also in the letter (see pages 10 and  11 of the appealed forfeiture order) dated  26.6.1973 by means of which Mr. Hoving informed Mr. Getty on the details of the potential agreement. It refers to a clear ownership title Artemis Herzer, whether there is or not any possession by the Italian State, the circumstances of its exit from Italy, the possible jurisdiction on the statue by the Ministry . . .the advisor . . . Brownell will contact the lawyers of Artemis in Rome Giovanni Manca and Vittorio Grimaldi of Studio Graziadei to address all present and past legal issues, it is equally clear that Herbert Brownell or his representative will endeavor to discuss these legal issues both with the “Belle Arti” and the Italian Police and any other Italian entity to discover whether there could be any claim on the Bronze, it is also clear that Herbert Brownell will discuss all legal issues with your lawyers . .. A few days later (as reported by Mr. Hoving) Mr. Herzer further increased the price and Mr. Getty did not accept this counteroffer. 
Mr Hoving told Mr. Getty that he suspected that this counteroffer was due, not by reason of greed of the German dealer, but rather to his impossibility to provide any convincing reassurance on the solidity of Artemis’s title.
In 1977, after Paul Getty’s death, the directors of the Museum executed the purchase agreement and the document indicates that the statue was located in London. The custom paper dated 8.8.1977 has been submitted, with its annexed statement that the statue’s origin place was Greece. This was very abnormal because based on the information provided by Mr. Herzer, first to Mr. Getty and then to the Museum, the indicated origin place of the statue were the Adriatic Sea, Italy, Brazil, Great Britain and Germany.

The individuals whose conduct has been scrutinized by the Judge for the Execution to assess the Museum’s position at the time of the purchase are the following: 
Jiri Frel An expert in archeology, he was in charge of the antiquities for the Getty Museum between 1972 and 1984·and, upon the Museum’s direct entrustment, had been involved in the negotiations for the purchase of the statue in 1972 and 1973 with Mr. Herzer. It was Mr Frel who wrote to Mr. Getty on 26.10.1972 about the extraordinary value of the statue. In 1973 he followed also the second phase and took part to the joint negotiation with the MET, informing Mr. Herzer thereof with at least two letters (on 26.8.1973 and 3.11.1973). Mr. Whaley testified that he believed that it was Mr. Frel (upon the initiative or solicitation of Mr. Herzer) who encouraged the purchase of the bronze statue in 1977 after Mr. Getty’s death. In any case, it is a fact that Mr. Frel was involved and that he reported about the negotiations to the attendees of the meetings of the Board of Trustees of 8.6.1977 and 27. 7.1977. There is no evidence that in said occasions Mr. Frel ever mentioned any doubt, not only about the price, but also about the legal issues and risks of claims over the statue by the Italian State which had been expressed by the businessman and other members of the team and which have been described above in the narrative part of the present order. Mr. Frel cannot be considered an individual of particular integrity, as it has been outlined in the motivations of the judgment of the Court of Rome (confirmed by the Court of Cassation in 2011) where the Court has considered his constant contiguity to certain notorious smugglers of international archeological goods which had allowed also to the Getty Museum to illegally purchase some art objects from Italy. Mr. Hoving indicated that Mr. Frel had been among the first ones seeing the restored statue in Munich and that, being an expert in his field, he was able to recognize that its marine encrustations could have formed only after remaining for centuries under sea water. There was therefore a high possibility that the statue was the one found by the fishermen of Fano, so that the circumstances surrounding its purchase by Mr. Herzer should have been verified in deep detail, at least to ensure that Italy had authorized its exportation. On the contrary, in just a few weeks between June and July 1977, relying substantially only on the evaluations of the seller’s lawyers, Mr. Frel recommended the very same purchase, which Paul Getty had, in turn, always postponed and never executed, at a price which was very close to the one requested by Mr. Herzer in 1973. 
Stephen Garrett. The English architect who joined the Museum in 1975 as Vice Director on the request of its founder. In June 1976 Mr. Garrett was appointed as the Museum’s Director. He had been informed by one of the curators (Mr. Fredericksen) that Mr. Getty was aware of the extraordinary value of the bronze statue, but that he remained hesitant because of the price and also because he did not want to be involved in legal problems. After his death, Mr Fredericksen and Federico Zeri, the expert of Italian art, both members of the Board of Trustees, encouraged the purchase of the statue. Mr. Garrett knew that there were legal issues which lied in the strict competence of his Board lawyer colleagues Stuart Peeler and Patrick Waley. Mr. Garret has been interrogated by the investigation police on 26.4.2007 and at that time, probably also because of a better memory, he mentioned that the founder of the Museum had been always extremely cautious in the Museum’s acquisitions. He did not remember seeing neither the letter dated 26.6.1973 of Mr. Hoving to Mr. Getty nor the technical report of 19.6.1975, which had been prepared on behalf of the Metropolitan Museum and in which Mr. Von Bothmer said that he had been informed about the existence of the statue by his friend and art collector Mr. Borowski who had seen it in the bathtub of a priest in Gubbio. This means that during the two Board meetings (of 8.6.1977 and 27.7.1977) these very important documents, which were already in the possession of the Museum, were not actually examined in depth and with proper accuracy and that Mr. Garret preferred to simply rely on the lawyers who were part of the Board. 
Burton Fredericksen Curator in Chief of the Getty Museum since 1965, he remembered seeing the bronze statue in 1972 in Munich in Mr. Herzer’s gallery who was offering it for sale (already restored) for 4 million Deutsch Mark. He also saw some pictures of the statue before its restoration and other documents (which were shown to him by Mr. Herzer) through which the Italian government confirmed that the statue could be transferred out of the country. He therefore believed that Mr. Getty abandoned the negotiation not for legal problems, but only because the price too high. He then said that, in any case, all legal issues within the Board of Trustees would fall under the exclusive competence of the two Board members who were lawyers and he did not really remember what exactly happened at the meeting of 8.6.1977.
Patrick Whaley personal lawyer of Mr. Getty and of the oil company, mainly a tax lawyer, just like his colleague Mr. Peeler, who remained on the Board of Trustees of the Museum until 1998. He remembered seeing the documents sent by the Roman lawyers of the seller and having examined them together with Mr. Peeler and Mr. Brownell before the meeting of 8.6.1977, and that he substantially decided to analyze the issues of Italian legislation that could have led to some problems with the purchase of the statue. Mr. Whaley was then given some sort of reassurance during a phone conversation with Mr. Graziadei. Within the following meeting of 27.7.1977 he did therefore not report any problem to the other members of the Board, also because Federico Zeri, who was a worldwide known art expert and even of Italian origin, was enthusiastic and did not raise any objection. He concluded his deposition by recalling that, after this transaction, for every subsequent decision over the purchase of art pieces, the Museum adopted protocols that provided for the previous acquisition of pictures of the object, so as to be able to formally seek a release by the State authorities of the country of origin on the existence of possible claims. 
Stuart Peeler A well known tax lawyer who mainly provided legal advice to his friend Paul Getty. From 1965 to 1998 he was a member of the Board of Trustees of the Museum. During the negotiations conducted by Mr. Getty, Mr. Peeler had a less important role compared to the businessman, also thereafter during the joint negotiation with the New York Museum, when Mr. Brownell was substantially chosen with preference over him and Mr. Bramlett was sent to Munich in April 1973 to negotiate directly with Mr. Herzer. Mr. Peeler confirmed having read the entire paperwork submitted by the Roman lawyer assisting Mr. Herzer and said that he believed the legal arguments and factual information contained therein to be reassuring with respect to the impossibility for the Italian State to successfully recover the statue. On 27.7.1977 Mr. Peeler attended the Board meeting via conference call, while the circumstances surrounding the object until 1972 were discussed and since he had not been involved in the Hoving-Herzer negotiation he had no knowledge about the important subsequent events represented by the reiterated new initiatives of the Italian investigative authorities against Mr. Herzer. It is worth mentioning that the documents referring to these new developments had been sent by Mr. Herzer to Mr. Frel only 20 days before the Board meeting of July 1977 and it is strange that in such a short time, and without having any knowledge of Italian law, one could analyze the logical and legal reasoning of the seller’s Italian lawyers in Rome and conclude that the purchase of the statue would be fully legal.
Noris Bramlett Direct and trusted associate of Mr. Getty and a member of the Museum’s Board of Trustees, he did not have a significant role in the two meetings. From the above described deeds and documents it emerged that during the negotiations of 1972 and 1973 Mr. Getty confided him not only the problems related to the price, but also his concerns about the legality of the title. From the minutes of the Board’s meeting it does however not appear that Mr. Bramlett ever reported these circumstances to the Board, not even to verify whether the legal experts of the Board would take these into consideration for the decision. 
After full evaluation of the documents and depositions made by the individuals who took the decision to purchase the statue, it can be concluded that no accurate investigation was carried out. There has not been a careful and balanced analysis into the legal issues that, on the contrary, had caused great “fatigue” to the intelligent Paul Getty before his death and the analysis delegated only to Mr. Whaley and Mr. Peeler (who were both tax lawyers) has been resolved by means of a simple reassuring phone call to Mr. Graziadei with respect to the absence of modifications in the Italian legislation. The only art expert (although mainly about paintings) was Federico Zeri, but his contribution – as resulting from the minutes of the meetings - appears not to have been in any way focused on the legal issues. 
It is on the grounds of these historical and logical evidences that the extraneousness of the Getty Museum to the crimes of illegal exportation and smuggling shall be evaluated, which requires to positively verify whether by using the ordinary diligence the Museum could have realized that the artifact offered for sale by Mr. Herzer had been exported without authorization from Italy. 

Article 4 of the Unidroit Treaty sets out the contents of this activity and imposes to the buyer to substantially reconstruct the provenance of the object in respect of its foregoing legitimate owners. To reach the objective it is sufficient to apply Italian law (which is the law based on which the evaluation shall be made, for the above explained reasons) which, as known, utilizes the concepts of diligence (as measurement for the evaluation of the conduct of the debtor) and that of good faith which objectively refers to what can be reasonably expected from both parties to a contract. 
In the present case it has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt that in consequence of the “Italian” trials at the time of the purchase in 1977 the Museum:
- knew or had to know by way of ordinary diligence that the public prosecutor had started a criminal procedure, first for theft and fencing the statue found by the fishermen and disembarked from an Italian ship, and then for illegal exportation;
- knew or had to know by way of ordinary diligence that the Italian State could not have started any serious recovery action because the statue had never been made available to the delegated authorities of international letters rogatory and because no permission had been given to take any picture,
- knew or had to know using by way of ordinary diligence that the Italian and the German procedures never entered into the merits of the illegal exportation crime because of a substantial insufficiency in the evidence caused by the resistance, sabotage, or at least the obstruction, exercised by the possessor of the object; this is why the argument relating to the absence of a registrar of cultural goods held by the Italian State which could allow third parties to trace the object’s transfers is not grounded, because this registrar implies that when an object is found it is reported to the State. A logical similar argument, equally effective in lieu of consulting this non-existing registrar, could have been that to request a direct ruling to the Italian Ministry of Cultural Goods, which the lawyers of the seller, as well as Paul Getty and so, at last, also the members of the Board of Trustees always failed to file, while lying down on the unofficial discussions held (in the firm of the professional) by Mr. Grimaldi with an official of the Ministry, Mr. Salerno, who had contacted him to verify whether there had been any negligence by the Italian Ministerial authorities. In that occasion, lying, Mr. Grimaldi said to Mr. Salerno that the statue originated from Greece (the information is contained in the letter sent by Mr. Grimaldi to Mr. Brownell dated  l.10.1973);
- only in 2011 the Museum retained an expert in (US) commercial law – Prof. De Mott – with the task of evaluating the documents and transfers of the statue. This expert has also deposed during the opposition procedure and has provided an interesting and satisfying set of arguments supporting the bona fide acquisition by the Museum. But she only focused on one aspect, namely the one based on which the buyer may legitimately rely on the representations made by the seller or his representative (in this case, his lawyers Mr. Manca and Mr. Grimaldi) and that by reason of confidentiality no information is made available (in the field of commerce of art objects) about the source of the vendors, the price paid and other sensitive details. In reality here the seller’s lawyers did not provide any information to the Museum but only legal (and, as said, rather inaccurate) evaluations with respect to the possible unfavorable outcome of a possible claim by the Italian State aimed at recovering of the bronze statue. Also one cannot disregard the fact that already in 1972 and 1973 Paul Getty raised concerns on the legality of the exportation to Mr. Herzer because the object had circulated in a very abnormal way (see the many transoceanic transfers). So that in 1977 a direct consultation of the State Authorities in charge of protecting the State’s cultural patrimony would have been the most appropriate and safe instrument, as it would have been to retain independent experts of Italian law: the Board of Trustees has however, as said, limited itself to a speedy and inaccurate review of the (old) information and a simple new request of "reassurance" to the lawyer of the seller made by mainly tax lawyers of the United States. The only person with a vast experience as art curator (Mr. Frel) who could have urged for some additional verifications did not want to do so, also because he was close to art dealers who had been found guilty, by means of a final judgment, of illegal exportation and smuggling of cultural objects. At last, even without considering the economic consistency of the seller, it has not been adequately proven that the vendors (Etablissement, Antiken and Artemis, all companies referable to Mr. Herzer) were esteemed art dealers, because on this aspect the deposition of Mr. Wilson (liquidator of Artemis) rather focused on tax law issues and he had no knowledge over the numbers and/or entity of the deals closed by the company in the interested timeframe (between 1972 and 1977).
The conclusion adopted by the Judge for the Execution would be the same also if referred to the crime of smuggling: Article 301 of Presidential Decree no. 43 of 1973 provides for the mandatory forfeiture of all goods used for, or aimed at, committing a crime and of all goods which are the object, the product or the profit of a crime. The Constitutional Court (judgment no. 1 of 1997) has declared the partial constitutional illegitimacy of this provision to allow for persons who were extraneous to the crime to give proof that they acquired ownership to the goods by ignoring in good faith their illegal introduction in the market. For all that has been above said, at the time of the purchase in 1977 the Museum negligently ignored that the statue (even if found in non-Italian territorial waters) was never submitted to the Italian Custom Agency, because in that case a specific verification procedure with the “Sopraintendenza” would have taken place, while the trial in Italy and the international letters rogatories showed the statue’s illegal transfers after its coincidental finding.
At last, we have to consider the deposition rendered by My. Clark with accuracy and admirable commitment in the two phases of the execution procedure: whereby it must be noted that his reconstruction of events is obviously limited by the fact that he started working for the Getty Museum only in recent times and that, therefore, his analysis of the purchase phases of 1977 and the previous negotiations has been made through documentary studies and in retrospect. The only argument which appears particularly suggestive is that of his reading the private diaries of Mr. Getty: in Mr Clark’s opinion Mr. Getty senior attributed the failure of the deal only to economic reason. Moreover, at that time one of his family members suddenly died, his oil company was experiencing problems due to the international economic scenario and there had been also the kidnapping of his grandson in Italy. After his death, however, the economic situation of the Museum improved and the members of the Board wanted to give a posthumous signal of special recognition to its founder by executing the deal of the statue which would have granted a prolonged prestige to the institution. These are very respectable considerations, but they are not sufficient to supersede the above described logical and legal structure – purely on documents - because they do not provide any explanation as to why no independent counsel was retained – in the subject matters of antique arts and Italian law on cultural objects – before executing the purchase of an object whose previous transfers would trigger suspects even on someone much less qualified than an art institution such as the Getty Museum, substantially choosing to "settle down" on reconstructions and legal evaluations made by the lawyer of the seller, who as such had a conflict of interest as he had to be more inclined to favor the execution of the deal and did not have any legal liability towards the buyer.
For all what has been above said, it can be concluded that the Judge for the Execution correctly took his decision of deeming the forfeiture . . .the necessary action to allow to the Italian State to reacquire the availability of the object which has been illegally removed from its non-disposable patrimony and unlawfully detained by the J. P. Getty Museum.
FOR THESE REASONS
the opposition is rejected and, as a consequence thereof, on the grounds of Articles 666, 667 and 676 of the Italian Criminal Code, article 174 section three of Legislative Decree no. 42 of 2004 and article 301 of Presidential Decree n. 15 of 1972, the forfeiture shall be confirmed as ordered on 10.2.2010 on the statue named the “Victorious Youth” attributable to the Greek sculptor Lysippus, currently detained by the J.P. Getty Museum, wherever situated.
The decision is sent to the Chancery for all necessary actions and in particular for the communications and services to the parties to the proceeding and to their respective attorneys, as well as to the Public Prosecutor for the actions under her responsibility. 
Pesaro 8 June 2018
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